FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
5/30/2023 3:10 PM
No. 102050-3

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/30/2023
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 56285-5-II COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, GOVERNOR JAY INSLEE, in his official capacity, ATTORNEY GENERAL BOB FERGUSON, in his official capacity, and BOARD OF REGISTRATION FOR PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERS AND LAND SURVEYORS, an agency of the State of Washington,

Respondents,

v.

FISHERIES ENGINEERS, INC., a Washington corporation, and PAUL TAPPEL, an individual and PE (professional engineer)

Petitioners.

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Fisheries Engineers, Inc. and Paul Tappel are the petitioners before this Court and were the respondents before the Court of Appeals below (herein referred to as "Petitioners").

#### **B.** COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioners ask this Court to accept review of a Court of Appeals decision, issued on February 7, 2023, reversing the trial court's grant of summary judgment in Petitioners' favor and directing the trial court to instead grant Respondents' crosssummary judgment motion and to dismiss Petitioners' case with prejudice on the basis of lack of standing. See Tappel v. State of Wash., No. 56285-5-II (Feb. 7, 2023) (attached as Appendix A). Specifically, the Court of Appeals held that Petitioners failed to demonstrate sufficient "injury-in-fact" under the Administrative Procedures Act ("APA") and the Uniform Declaratory Judgment Act ("UDJA"). The Court of Appeals denied Petitioners' Motion to Publish on April 27, 2023. See Appendix B.

### C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves the proper interpretation of Washington's professional engineer licensing statute, RCW Chapter 18.43 (the "Act") and whether Petitioners have standing to challenge the State's erroneous interpretation, application, and enforcement of its requirements. Specifically, Petitioners challenge the State's de facto policy that any unlicensed person can lawfully use the professional title "Engineer", as long as they do not specifically use the titles "Professional Engineer" or "Structural Engineer." This interpretation of the Act is inconsistent with the Act's plain language, which expressly and repeatedly states that it is unlawful to convey the impression or imply one is a professional engineer without being licensed. RCW 18.43.010, .020. Respondents' errant interpretation of the Act has resulted in thousands of unlicensed persons publicly using versions of the title "Engineer"—such as "Bridge Engineer" or "Traffic Engineer"—in contexts that are facially misleading to the

public, and thus injurious to Petitioners' profession and right to use this earned professional title. Petitioners' standing to bring this challenge is well-settled. As set forth herein, the Washington Supreme Court has recognized that professionals, like Petitioners, suffer "actual and substantial injury" when others fail to comply by the same professional requirements, and that they have standing to redress such injury. *See Day v. Inland Empire Optical, Inc.*, 76 Wn.2d 407, 416–17, 456 P.2d 1011 (1969).

Yet the Court of Appeals ignored key portions of this Supreme Court ruling in rendering its decision in this case. Given the Court of Appeals' contradictory ruling, the constitutional issues involved in this case, and the thousands of unlicensed and licensed "Engineers" across the State who are likely to be impacted by this decision, this Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), and (4).

3

## 1. History of the Parties

Petitioner Paul Tappel, a licensed professional engineer, filed his original Petition in 2018 on behalf of himself and his engineering firm, Fisheries Engineers, Inc., against the State of Washington, the Attorney General, and the Board of Registration for Professional Engineers and Land Surveyors (the "Board"), (collectively, "Respondents").

Petitioner Paul Tappel has worked in Washington state as a licensed professional engineer since 1987. See CP2 254, ¶ 2. As part of his licensing, Mr. Tappel was required to satisfy rigorous academic and experience requirements, matriculate through an "engineer in training" phase, undergo Board examinations, and pay registration fees. See RCW 18.43.040 et seq. As a licensed engineer, Mr. Tappel is required to continuously observe the profession's ethical code, and annually pay to renew his license. See RCW 18.43.080, .105.

<sup>1</sup> Petitioners also initially filed suit against Governor Jay Inslee, in his official capacity as Governor. However, Petitioners dropped their request for relief against the Governor prior to summary judgment.

{04735280.DOCX;8}

In 2017, Mr. Tappel filed a complaint with the Board regarding, in part, an unlicensed Washington Department of Natural Resources ("WDNR") employee's use of the title "Forest Practices Engineer." CP2 265, ¶ 14. Although this individual was not duly licensed as an engineer, his title wrongfully implied licensure. Mr. Tappel correctly pointed out that the Act makes it unlawful for anyone "to use in connection with his or her name or otherwise assume, use, or advertise any title or description tending to convey the impression that he or she is a professional engineer...unless such a person has been duly registered under the provisions of this chapter." RCW 18.43.010. The Act also defines "Engineer" as "a professional engineer as defined in this section." RCW 18.43.020.

The Board closed its investigation into Mr. Tappel's complaint without action, noting, irrelevantly, that "there is no clear, cogent, and convincing evidence that [the individual] violated any of the Board's rules or regulations. [He] appears to have followed the supervisory structure of his organization

5

which is outside the Board's authority." CP2 256–257, ¶ 15, CP2 289–290. The Board went on to note "[it] will not pursue investigations against the use of titles unless the titles used are professional engineer, structural engineer or professional land surveyor. It will provide the same response to all future complaints on this issue." *Id*.

The Board provided no explanation as to why only these two specific engineering titles warranted protection under the statute, when no other titles would be regulated. This arbitrary subset captures only a fraction of the engineer titles in use. The Board itself administers "engineer exams" for "Engineers" under 16 different "engineering disciplines," which often are used as titles. See CP2 383, ¶ 5; CP2 420–436; CP2 258–258, ¶ 26; CP2 336–354. These disciplines/titles range widely including chemical, environmental, industrial, and naval engineers among others. Fourteen of these disciplines are expressly included in the Washington State Department of Licensing's List of *Licenses*, along with 19 other different engineer licenses (including, e.g.,

Agricultural, Electrical, Mining, and Petroleum) with links to the Board's website. *See id.* Yet, according to the Board's interpretation, none of these titles are governed by the Act. Senior Counsel from the Attorney General's Office reviewed Mr. Tappel's complaint and essentially agreed with the Board's conclusion. CP2 257, ¶ 18; CP2 292–297.

As a direct result of Respondents' failure to properly interpret and enforce the Act, there are over 800 employees at multiple state agencies with professional engineering job titles, such as "Bridge Engineer," "Civil Engineer," "Environmental Engineer," and "Transportation Engineer." *Id.* at ¶ 18; CP2 292–297. None of these jobs require professional engineering licenses even though the job descriptions indicate professional level engineering work. Even worse, the Board itself estimates that over *100,000 unlicensed* engineers practice across the State. *See* CP2 661, ¶ 10.

Given the Respondents' unequivocal position in direct conflict with the statute, and the State's own widespread abuse

of Petitioners' professional title, Petitioners sought relief by filing a Petition in Thurston County Superior Court.

# 2. Petitioners' Challenge in Thurston County Superior Court

Petitioners filed their Petition in Thurston County Superior Court in 2018, seeking injunctive and declaratory relief under the UDJA and APA related to Respondents' misinterpretation, misapplication, and widespread violations of the Act. CP 9–28. On cross-motions for summary judgment in 2019, the trial court originally dismissed Petitioners' claims, ruling on the merits of the Parties' respective statutory interpretation arguments, but the trial court did not reach the procedural issues before it. Petitioners appealed, and the Court of Appeals remanded the matter, directing the trial court to first address standing and immunity, before reaching the merits of the claim. See Fisheries Engineers, Inc. v. State, 15 Wn. App. 1020, 2020 WL 6581848 (2020).

On remand, Petitioners and Respondents again filed cross-motions for summary judgment. Petitioners sought affirmative summary judgment on their claims for: (1) declaratory judgment, to invalidate the Respondents' errant enforcement policy, and (2) an injunction enjoining the State from continuing to use this professional title for its unlicensed employees. Respondents moved to dismiss Petitioners' claims on summary judgment based upon lack of standing (among other affirmative defenses).

The trial court entered summary judgment in favor of Petitioners, correctly holding that: (1) the Petitioners had standing to bring this suit—given their manifest interest in protecting their professional title from misuse by unqualified individuals—and (2) entering appropriately tailored injunctive and declaratory relief to correct the Respondents' misapplication of the Act. Specifically, the trial court held in relevant part:

9

As licensed professional engineer, a Petitioners Paul Tappel and his engineering firm Fisheries Engineers, Inc. have a recognized interest in ensuring that others in their profession abide by the same rules and requirements. See Day v. Inland Empire Optical, Inc., 76 Wn.2d 407, 416–17 (1969)... Petitioners have also sustained an injuryin-fact as a result of Respondents' undisputed actions as set forth herein. Accordingly, this Court finds that Petitioners have standing under common law, the APA, and the UDJA to bring this challenge against the Board and the State of Washington, and Petitioners have standing under common law and the UDJA to bring this challenge against the Attorney General.

. . .

...[P]er the plain language of the statute, it is unlawful for an unlicensed person to use the title 'Engineer' when doing so 'tend[s] to convey the impression' or 'implies' that he or she is a professional engineer. See RCW 18.43.010, .020.

...[T]his Court finds that the use of the title "Engineer," or any variation thereof, necessarily tends to convey the impression of licensure when it is used by someone who either engages in the practice of engineering (as it is defined under RCW 18.43.020(8)(a)), or who works within an agency, organization, or business that engages in or offers engineering services and is not a registered professional engineer. Under those circumstances, there is no meaningful way to distinguish between the licensed engineers and the

unlicensed individuals who work under them, if both are permitted to use the professional title "Engineer."

See CP2 760–761, Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law Nos. 2, 9, and 10.

The trial court then entered declaratory judgment in favor of Petitioners, adjudging that the Respondents' enforcement policy was invalid under the Act "because under such circumstances, the title necessarily tends to convey the impression of licensure, which is prohibited under the Act." *See id.* Order No. 2.b. The trial court entered injunctive relief enjoining the State from allowing its employees to use the title "Engineer" in a manner that violates the Act's requirements as set forth above. *See id.* at No. 2.c.

# 3. Respondents' Appeal to Division II Court of Appeals

Respondents timely appealed to Division II of the Court of Appeals, alleging that: (1) Petitioners lacked standing, (2) that Respondents were immune from suit under RCW 18.235.190, (3) that the trial court's ruling violated the First

Amendment, and (4) that the trial court's interpretation of the Act was in error.

On appeal, the appellate panel reversed the superior court's decision and held that Petitioners failed to identify sufficient evidence of an "injury in fact" on summary judgment. The panel explained that Petitioners failed to provide evidence of actual or probable economic harm to be afforded relief, and that the Supreme Court's decision in Day v. Inland Empire— Court recognized wherein the Supreme licensed ophthalmologist's inherent injury and standing to enforce the same licensing requirements against others—should not apply to these facts. The appellate panel distinguished Day from Petitioners' case on the basis that Day challenged the competitors themselves, government agencies not the responsible for regulating the competition. See Appendix A at 11. The panel then remanded the case to the superior court with instructions that Petitioners' entire case be dismissed with prejudice.

#### D. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Should this Court accept review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1), where the Court of Appeals' decision and analysis conflict with, and materially limit, the Washington State Supreme Court's decision in *Day v. Inland Empire*? **Yes.**
- 2. Should this Court accept review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3), when this case involves fundamental constitutional issues, such as standing and limitations on commercial freedom of speech? **Yes.**
- 3. Should this Court accept review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4), when this case involves not only the widespread misuse of the Engineer professional title across the State, thus implicating public safety and confidence in the profession, but the very availability of legal recourse for professionals to protect the privileges of their license? **Yes.**

# E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This case involves one of the most fundamental concepts of the legal system: a person's ability to access the courts to

protect their interests against infringement. In this case, Petitioners' interest is their earned professional title, "Engineer." Through rigorous study, examination, compliance with ethical rules, and annual payments to sustain licensure, Petitioners have earned the privilege of using this title to convey their expertise to the public. They have a judicially recognized right, under this Court's decision in *Day*, to protect that privilege.

But by its decision, the Court of Appeals substantially limited that window for relief by imposing a standing and "injury in fact" criteria that is both pragmatically impossible to meet and inconsistent with this Court's prior holding. And by shutting the door on these Petitioners, the Court of Appeals' decision will allow the thousands of unlicensed "Engineers" across the state to continue using misleading engineer job titles in derogation of the law and to the detriment of not only licensed engineers like Mr. Tappel and his firm, but to public

safety and the public's confidence in the engineering profession.

This Court should take the opportunity to clarify its standing principles, reverse a Court of Appeals decision that conflicts with existing Supreme Court precedent, and rectify a widespread wrong that afflicts the State and an entire profession. For the foregoing reasons, this Court should accept review under RAP 13.4.

1. Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with existing Supreme Court precedent, *Day v. Inland Empire*.

First, this Court should accept review because the Court of Appeals' decision regarding Petitioners' failure to establish an "injury in fact" directly conflicts with existing caselaw.

In Washington, standing is recognized as a low bar, and Petitioners had clear standing under both the statutory and common law frameworks. Both the common law and APA tests require that plaintiff demonstrate an injury in fact. See Spokane Entrepreneurial Ctr. v. Spokane Moves to Amend the

{04735280.DOCX;8}

Constitution, 185 Wn.2d 97, 103, 369 P.3d 140 (2016) and Allan v. University of Wash., 140 Wn.2d 323, 327, 997 P.2d 360 (2000). "Courts take a more liberal approach to standing for questions of major public importance." See Bass v. City of Edmonds, 199 Wn.2d 403, 409, 508 P.3d 172 (2022) (citations omitted).

An "injury-in-fact" refers to whether the petitioner can show that he or she was in fact injured by the agency's decision, or whether the agency's decision threatens an injury that is "immediate, concrete, and specific." *City of Burlington v. Wash. State Liquor Control Bd.*, 187 Wn. App. 853, 869, 351 P.3d 875 (2015). This is intended to be a *de minimis* rule; "even an identifiable trifle should be sufficient." *Id.* (internal quotations omitted) (quoting Williams R. Anderson, *The 1988 Washington Administrative Procedure Act—An Introduction*, 64 Wash. L. Rev. 781, 824 (Oct. 1989)).

Here, Petitioners suffered actual, substantial harm due to the inaction of the Board and Attorney General, **and** the actions

of the State's agencies, in providing their unlicensed employees with misleading Engineer titles in violation of the Act. See CP2 257, ¶ 21. Over thirty years ago, Mr. Tappel undertook all the requirements to earn his Engineer title; he completed the requisite curriculum, gained the required minimum experience, took the exam to become an Engineer-in-training, gained four more years' experience, and paid (and continues to pay) the fees to maintain his license. Mr. Tappel's right to bear this earned professional title, which Mr. Tappel pays annual fees to sustain, is intrinsically diminished when unlicensed individuals are permitted to use the same title. Allowing unlicensed or unqualified individuals to use this professional title inherently denigrates the entire profession, harming those who are duly licensed and have obtained that privilege to practice.

This, in and of itself, is sufficient to establish injury-infact as established by this Court in its *Day v. Inland Empire* decision. In *Day*, licensed ophthalmologists and a licensed optician sought to enjoin fellow ophthalmologists from practicing medicine and simultaneously operating a prescription optical business. The defendants moved to dismiss the claim, arguing that the plaintiffs failed to show that they suffered any pecuniary injury, and were therefore without remedy in law or equity. See 76 Wn.2d at 416. However, this Court quickly disposed of this argument. This Court observed that the plaintiff's injury did *not* lie solely in the potential economic impacts caused by unfair competition from these other professionals, but rather, their injury "rest[ed] on more precise grounds." Id. As licensed members of a profession, subject to reasonable regulation by the state, "each plaintiff could properly resort to the courts to require others so licensed to abide by the laws and regulations governing the practice..." *Id*. This Court observed "[A] breach of ethics or violations of the laws by either licensed or unlicensed persons practicing the profession constitutes actual and substantial injury to others in the profession for which the courts will provide redress." Id. at 417 (emphasis added) (citing Port of Seattle v. Int'l Longshoremen's & Warehousemen's Union, 52 Wn.2d 317 (1958)). Under such circumstances, plaintiffs may "utilize the courts to prevent unlicensed persons from engaging in the licensed profession, trade or calling." *Id.* (citations omitted).

Therefore, regardless of whether Petitioners submitted evidence into the record that they suffered actual or probable economic injury, the widespread, unlicensed use of their professional title is an invasion of the Petitioners' rights and constitutes an "actual and substantial injury" under *Day*.

In this respect, the Court of Appeals' decision directly conflicts with this Court's holding in *Day*. The Court of Appeals erroneously concluded Petitioners' claims should fail because Mr. Tappel "provided no evidence of how he was deprived of the privileges and competitive advantage that his title confers, or how he was placed on even footing with unlicensed and unqualified people." *See Tappel*, No. 56285-5-II (Appendix A hereto) at 10. The Court of Appeals then attempted to distinguish *Day* by claiming that its holding was

19

limited only to suits involving private competitors, to ensure a level playing field, and that it did not apply to challenges against the State. *See id*.

But the Court of Appeals' short analysis of Day cannot be squared with the actual language provided in the opinion. In Day, this Court expressly rejected the notion that standing was predicated upon economic injury or ensuring a level competitive playing field among private entities; to the contrary, the Court expressly stated, "Although the stated position of the plaintiffs concerning the claims of unfair and destructive competition if amplified would probably suffice to afford them standing on that basis alone, their right to bring this action, we think, rests on more precise grounds." *Id.* at 417. The Court explained, "we are of the opinion that one lawfully engaged in the practice of a licensed profession has a legal and equitable right to insist that others practicing abide by the ethical standards and comply with the laws of the practice; that violations...amount to an invasion of that right..." Id. at 417

(emphasis added). The breach into that right "by unlicensed persons practicing the profession constitutes actual and substantial injury to others in the profession for which the courts will provide redress." Id. In other words, this Court expressly rejected the notion that standing rests solely upon preservation of competitive advantage or providing a level competitive playing field among private entities. The Court made clear that the violation of the Act itself constituted actual injury to petitioners, since they themselves are bound to comply with the Act. This Court clearly and unequivocally stated in Day that, as licensed professionals, Petitioners have a judicially recognized right to insist that others comply with the same rules and seek redress when others violate the licensing Act. The Court makes no distinction between private and public entities, and expressly rejected the Court of Appeals' conclusion that standing requires some form of probable economic injury. The injury lies within the violation of the Act itself.

Additionally, the Court of Appeals' conclusion that Petitioners failed to demonstrate an invasion of their rights is facially incorrect. On cross-motions for summary judgment, Petitioners offered evidence of over 800 unlicensed public State employees in just three agencies who were violating the Act by using misleading Engineer titles. Petitioners provided evidence that the Board and Attorney General—the two enforcement bodies statutorily charged<sup>2</sup> with enforcing the Act's title requirements—unequivocally refused to enforce the Act against those who were violating the Act by using Petitioners' professional title without a license. As a result of this position, Board itself estimated that over 100,000 unlicensed engineers practice across the State. CP2 661, ¶ 10. Under Day, these violations of the Act by the State and others constitute an invasion of Petitioners' own rights and privileges and constitutes an "actual and substantial injury ... for which the

{04735280.DOCX;8}

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See RCW 18.235.150(1) and (2) and .020(2)(b)(iii) (specifically identifying the Board as the governmental body responsible for interpreting and enforcing the Act); and RCW 18.43.120 (the Attorney General shall render assistance as necessary to carry out the Act).

court will provide redress." *See* 76 Wn.2d at 417. Regardless of whether the Respondents are public or private entities, the widespread unlicensed use of the title "Engineer" is an invasion into Petitioners' rights.

Thus, the Court of Appeals' decision that Petitioners failed to provide any evidence of any "injury in fact," or any invasion of any "right" or "privilege," is fundamentally inconsistent with this Court's holding in *Day*. This Court should accept review to address this conflict between the Court of Appeals holding and the existing Washington State Supreme Court caselaw on this critical standing issue.

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