FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/31/2023 2:40 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 102050-3

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, GOVERNOR JAY INSLEE, in his official capacity, ATTORNEY GENERAL BOB FERGUSON, in his official capacity, and BOARD OF REGISTRATION FOR PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERS AND LAND SURVEYORS, an agency of the State of Washington,

Respondents,

v.

FISHERIES ENGINEERS, INC., a Washington corporation, and PAUL TAPPEL, an individual and PE (professional engineer),

Appellants.

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

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

#### IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

The Court of Appeals properly applied well-established Washington precedent holding that all plaintiffs—including professional licensees—must offer more than conclusory statements that they are inherently injured, or intrinsically deprived of some ill-defined competitive advantage, before they can obtain judicial relief. The Court's decision did not modify or narrow the test for standing; it did not establish a novel test for an injury; and it did not change the rules for standing depending on the litigants, as Tappel suggests. It merely applied several of the already-existing Washington precedents outlining the minimal requirements to establish an injury for standing and

found that, under the facts of this case, Tappel did not meet those minimum requirements.

The Court of Appeals decision is consistent with this Court's precedent, and it does not involve any constitutional questions or issues of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), and (4). The Court should deny review.

#### A. Tappel Did Not Establish an Injury for Standing

The Court of Appeals properly rejected Tappel's attempt to excuse himself from showing an actual injury, a necessary element for standing.

Standing is a jurisdictional issue. *Knight v. City of Yelm*, 173 Wn.2d 325, 336, 267 P.3d 973 (2011). While couched differently, the UDJA and APA standing tests are much the same. *City of Burlington v. Wash. State Liquor Control Bd.*, 187 Wn. App. 853, 873 n.16, 351 P.3d 875 (2015) ("[T]he two-part standing test under the UDJA is nearly identical to the APA two-part standing est."). Both require a plaintiff to establish an "injury in fact" and that they are within the "zone of interests"

protected by the statute. *Branson v. Port of Seattle*, 152 Wn.2d 862, 876, 101 P.3d 67 (2004); *Allan v. Univ. of Wash.*, 140 Wn.2d 323, 327, 997 P.2d 360 (2000).

To show an injury in fact, Tappel had to demonstrate that he was "specifically and perceptibly harmed" by the action. *Freedom Found. v. Bethel School Dist.*, 14 Wn. App. 2d 75, 86, 469 P.3d 364 (2020). Conjectural or hypothetical injuries are insufficient for standing. *Id.* In addition, Tappel had to demonstrate that the relief he seeks will redress the alleged harm. *KS Tacoma Holdings, LLC, v. Shorelines Hearings Bd.*, 166 Wn. App. 117, 129, 272 P.3d 876 (2012).

Tappel largely agrees with the Court of Appeals' articulation of the injury-in-fact requirements. His petition for review quotes the same passage from the same case that the Court of Appeals relied on. *Compare* Pet. for Rev. at 16 (quoting *City of Burlington*, 187 Wn. App. at 869), *with* Slip Op. at 9 (same). At bottom, Tappel simply disagrees with the Court of Appeals' application of that standard. A party's disagreement

with the application of a legal standard is not a sufficient basis for review under RAP 13.4(b).

In any event, the Court of Appeals properly concluded that
Tappel failed to establish either actual harm or that the requested
relief would remedy any such harm. As the Court noted, all
Tappel ever alleged was that:

his "right to bear this earned professional title is intrinsically diminished when unlicensed individuals are permitted to hold themselves out with the same title," and that by "failing to properly enforce the Act against violators misappropriate the Engineering title, [the Board] ha[s] deprived [Tappel] of the privileges and competitive advantage that [his] professional title confer[s]."

Slip Op. at 8. These alleged, abstract professional harms were both too generalized and unsupported by evidence to establish a concrete injury for standing.

To be sure, a competitive injury can be sufficient to establish standing, if there is evidence of such an injury. For example, in *Seattle Building and Construction Trades Council v.*Apprenticeship and Training Council, 129 Wn.2d 787,

920 P.2d 581 (1996), the plaintiff labor organizations showed that they faced alteration of competitive conditions, such as a "deplet[ion] of work opportunities of apprentices," difficulty "attracting qualified apprentices" due to increased competition, and an effect on "job opportunities for members." *Seattle Building*, 129 Wn.2d at 796. These were the "probable economic injuries" the labor organization had standing to vindicate. Slip Op. at 9.

But here, Tappel offered no evidence of the actual value of his license, nor did he provide any evidence that the value of his license had somehow been diminished either as a result of less demand for professional engineers' services in general or for his services in particular. *See* CP2 254-59; Slip Op. at 10. Tappel continued to enjoy all of the privileges of a registered, professional engineer.

Tappel offered no evidence in his declaration showing how others using the word "engineer" in their occupational titles actually impacts him. CP2 254-59. Nor did he identify any

instance in which he or anyone else had been misled by state employees' use of the job titles he objects to. *Id.* There is only one, conclusory statement that the Board's failure to take action on his various complaints "degrades the integrity of my profession and engenders public confusion." CP2 257. The Court of Appeals properly concluded Tappel did not offer enough support for his claimed injuries. Slip Op. at 10-12. There was, in short, "a failure of proof." *Id.* at 10.

In his Petition for Review, Tappel continues to insist that an "inherent" injury suffices—because there is no evidence that he suffered any actual or probable economic or competitive injury, let alone a concrete one. And, because Tappel failed to show any particular diminishment of the value in his license in the first place, he did not and cannot show how prohibiting others from using the term "engineer" in their occupational titles would enhance or restore the "inherent" or "intrinsic" value of his license. Thus he cannot show that his claimed injury is "fairly traceable to the challenged conduct and likely to be redressed by

the requested relief." *High Tide Seafoods v. State*, 106 Wn.2d 695, 702, 725 P.2d 411 (1986).

Finally, it is worth noting that Tappel does not challenge the actual *work* of the people whose titles he objects to; he complains only about the appearance of the word "engineer" in their job titles. But Tappel has never explained or established how the use of that word causes him any competitive harm. His claim that the "injury lies with the violation of the Act itself" assumes the merits of his claim. Pet. at 21. It does not show how—even if proved—any purported violation harms Tappel. Thus the Court of Appeals easily and properly concluded that Tappel did not demonstrate even a *de minimis* injury to be able to seek judicial relief. The Court should deny review.

## B. The Court of Appeals Opinion Is Consistent with Day v. Inland Empire Optical, Inc.

The Court of Appeals opinion is entirely consistent with Day v. Inland Empire Optical, Inc., 76 Wn.2d 407, 456 P.3d 1011 (1969). Day focused on the standing of licensed professionals to ensure a level playing field among competitors

and ultimately recognized a licensed ophthalmologist's standing to sue competitors under the anti-rebate statutes. *Id.* at 416-17; *see also Hous. Fin. Comm'n v. Nat'l Homebuyers Fund, Inc.*, 193 Wn.2d 704, 713-14, 445 P.3d 533 (2019) (citing *Day* in the context of standing to challenge actions "against competitors" and in relation to "competing in that area"). The Court of Appeals specifically addressed and correctly distinguished *Day*. Slip Op. at 10.

Tappel's claim that the Court of Appeals somehow "abrogated" or "substantially limited" *Day* misreads the case and this Court's recent description of it. Pet. at 14, 19-20. The precise language from *Day* that Tappel relies on underscores that *Day*'s holding concerns actions "against licensed or unlicensed persons practicing the profession," which implicates competitive harms. *Day*, 76 Wn.2d at 417. And this Court later described *Day* as "reaffirm[ing] our precedent holding that members of a licensed profession have a legal and equitable right to seek injunctive relief *against competitors* operating without a license."

Hous. Fin. Comm'n, 193 Wn.2d at 713-14 (emphasis added). Tappel's contention that Day does away with the injury-in-fact requirement for members of licensed professions is rejected by both Day itself and this Court's decision in Housing Finance Commission.

Notably, *Day* long pre-dates the three-pronged standing requirements of the modern APA, and the *Housing Finance Commission* case is the only Washington case to cite *Day* for any standing principle in the 54 years since the case was decided. The Court of Appeals merely distinguished it from Tappel's action and lack of competitive injury here; it did not narrow or modify it. And it certainly did not "abrogate" it. Pet. at 31. Rather, it appropriately read *Day* as limited to its particular facts, rather than reading it as setting aside the now well-established injury requirement for standing, as Tappel effectively proposes.

Tappel's reading of *Day* would relieve him—and any other licensed professional—from having to prove an injury so long as they merely allege that others are engaged in unlicensed

practice. Under Tappel's theory, any licensee would have automatic standing to challenge each and every agency disciplinary decision, even when an enforcement decision does not impact the licensee. No case—*Day* or any other—has adopted such a dramatic departure from traditional standing principles. Instead, a person must be actually injured—an "aggrieved party"—in order to sue the Board. RCW 34.05.530.

The Court properly rejected Tappel's invitation to effectively eliminate the injury requirement for standing. That decision does not conflict with this Court's precedent. Review is unwarranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

### C. This Case Does Not Involve a Significant Constitutional Question

Tappel claims that because the case was resolved on standing, it raises "a critical constitutional issue." Pet. at 24. This strains the meaning of "significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States[.]" RAP 13.4(b)(3). According to Tappel, *any* time a case is resolved on standing, it presents a significant constitutional

question. Not so. Standing is a long established, threshold requirement. A case-specific determination that a plaintiff has not suffered an injury in fact is not a question of constitutional magnitude.

Moreover, in suing the State defendants, Tappel does not even seek to vindicate a constitutional right. He does not contend that the Washington or United States Constitutions protect his professional title or prohibit state employees from using the word "engineer" in their job titles. His desire to shield his professional title from its use by others does not present a constitutional question.

Finally, the Court of Appeals decision does not involve a First Amendment issue. Because the Court of Appeals resolved this case on standing grounds, it did not reach the State's alternative, constitutional avoidance argument regarding the merits. There is no First Amendment issue presented for this Court's review.

### D. This Case Does Not Involve an Issue of Substantial Public Interest

Last, while this case may be important to Tappel, it does not involve "an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(4). The Court of Appeals decision did not break new legal ground. It applied well-established standing jurisprudence to the specific facts of this case. And it maintains liberal access to judicial review when a party establishes any form of real injury. Despite multiple opportunities, Tappel simply failed to identify any evidence of such injury and instead relied exclusively on conclusory allegations of abstract, "intrinsic" harms. Tappel's failure to identify any evidence of harm is not an issue of substantial public interest.

Despite Tappel's obvious lack of injury, he claims the Court of Appeals decision "will govern the standard of proof that trial courts impose when evaluating whether a member of the public is sufficiently injured to see their day in court." Pet. at 28. But there already exist dozens of decisions that advise trial courts

how to analyze the threshold showing required to establish a sufficient injury in fact for standing. The Court's opinion here applies a few of those cases to the facts of this particular case. There is no issue of substantial public interest warranting further review. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Moreover, simply because amici filed a brief supporting Tappel does not signify that this case is one of substantial public interest. See Pet. at 28-29. Amici were professional organizations that advocate for laws to both limit entry to the profession and restrict others from using the word "engineer" if they are not licensed. See Appellants' Resp. to Br. of Amici Curiae 4-5. They, too, made the conclusory assertion that "creative 'engineer' job titles confuse professional engineers with unlicensed technicians." Br. of Amici Curiae 15-16. Yet like Tappel, they cited no evidence of any actual confusion or harm. Amici's selfinterested support for Tappel's case should not be confused for substantial public interest.

#### V. CONCLUSION

The Court should deny the Petition for Review.

This document contains 3,975 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.